SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 69,035

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

V8 .

SID J. WHITE SEP 17 1988 SHERK, SUPREME COURT

Dopaty clerk

DR. and MRS. AUGUSTO LOPEZ-TORRES, TOWN OF OCEAN RIDGE and AUDUBON SOCIETY OF THE EVERGLADES,

Respondents.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

MAXINE F. FERGUSON Appellate Attorney A. J. SPALLA General Counsel Department of Transportation Haydon Burns Building, MS 58 605 Suwannee Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 904/488-6212

###

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For purposes of this brief, the following shall apply: Petitioner, Department of Transportation, shall be referred to as the "DEPARTMENT";

Respondents, Dr. and Mrs. Augusto Lopez-Torres, shall be referred to as "LOPEZ-TORRES";

Respondent, TOWN OF OCEAN RIDGE, shall be referred to as "OCEAN RIDGE";

Respondent, AUDUBON SOCIETY OF THE EVERGLADES, shall be referred to as "AUDUBON SOCIETY";

Respondents, LOPEZ-TORRES, OCEAN RIDGE, and AUDUBON SOCIETY, shall be referred to collectively as "Respondents".

"R" refers to Record on Appeal followed by appropriate page number; and

"A" refers to the Appendix accompanying this Brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 26, 1984, LOPEZ-TORRES, filed a Request for Administrative Hearing with the DEPARTMENT which asserted that as owners of certain real property LOPEZ-TORRES were adversely affected by the DEPARTMENT's decision to construct a bridge in Boynton Beach, Florida. (R: 23) The DEPARTMENT transferred the case to the Division of Administrative Hearings (R: 24) and a hearing was scheduled for August 30-31, 1984. (R: 32) The issues to be addressed were "whether respondents proposed construction of a new bridge in Boynton Beach, Florida will destroy the quality of the residential property of petitioner and destroy environmentally sensitive property immediately adjacent to petitioner's residence". (R: 32)

By order dated July 3, 1984, OCEAN RIDGE was permitted to intervene, claiming that the construction of the new bridge in Boynton Beach would destroy the quality of life in OCEAN RIDGE, destroy environmentally sensitive property adjacent to OCEAN RIDGE, and adversely affect certain property owned by OCEAN RIDGE. (R: 33, 36) Also, over the DEPARTMENT's objections, (R: 79-80), the AUDOBON SOCIETY'S petition to intervene was granted on August 31, 1984. (R: 85)

On August 20, 1984, LOPEZ-TORRES filed a Motion for Summary Recommended Order prohibiting the DEPARTMENT from undertaking any development inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan of OCEAN RIDGE. (R: 37-75) By stipulation, the parties agreed that the August 30-31, 1984 hearing would address only the Motion for Entry of Summary Recommended Order made upon an issue of law. (R: 76)

At the hearing held August 30, 1984, no evidence was adduced; however, the Hearing Officer ordered the parties to submit, within ten days, a written description of the bridge project, any additional portions of OCEAN RIDGE'S Comprehensive Plan and additional memoranda of law. (R: 18-21) Counsel for LOPEZ-TORRES suggested the DEPARTMENT draft the requested description of the project. (R: 21) Accordingly, the DEPARTMENT submitted a Statement of Facts outlining the Boynton Beach Bridge Project with attached exhibits supporting such facts, (R: 92-275) to which no objection was made by Respondents.

The Recommended Order of the Hearing Officer ruled in favor of Respondents concluding that the DEPARTMENT's construction of the Boynton Beach Bridge was inconsistent with and therefore precluded by OCEAN RIDGE'S Comprehensive Plan. (R: 276-284) Prior to the entry of a final order, the DEPARTMENT received numerous <u>ex parte</u> communications which were made a part of the record pursuant to §120.66, Fla. Stat. (1983). (R: 287-302) Included in such communications were letters from

the President of the Greater Boynton Beach Chamber of Commerce and the City Manager of Boynton Beach. (R: 289; 296-8)

After reviewing the record, the Secretary of the Department entered a Final Order which adopted the findings of fact set forth in the Recommended Order, made the additional finding that the Comprehensive Plan of the Town of Boynton Beach provides for the relocation of the bridge, and rejected the Hearing Officer's conclusions of law. (R: 303-317)

Notice of Appeal of the Final Order was filed by LOPEZ-TORRES, OCEAN RIDGE and the AUDUBON SOCIETY in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. (R: 321) The issues before the Fourth District were: 1) whether the Comprehensive Planning Act can be construed in <u>pari materia</u> with the State Transportation Code to give significant legal effect to both; 2) whether the DEPARTMENT's proposed Boynton Beach Bridge, with approach road, is inconsistent with and therefore precluded by the local Comprehensive Plan of the Town of Ocean Ridge; and, 3) whether balancing of interests is the appropriate legal test in cases such as this where there exists a conflict between transportation decisions and plans of state and local governmental entities. LOPEZ-TORRES, OCEAN RIDGE and THE AUDUBON SOCIETY stated in their Initial Brief below that the facts were not in dispute.

Without addressing the issues set forth by the parties, the Fourth District reversed the Final Order and remanded for a

full evidentiary hearing pursuant to \$120.57(1), Fla. Stat. (A: 1-11) The grounds for the Fourth District's reversal were that: 1) the Respondents were denied due process since they never received a full hearing on the merits; and, 2) by applying the "right-for-the-wrong-reason" test, the court reevaluated the evidence and determined that the DEPARTMENT's decision to relocate the Boynton Beach bridge was clearly erroneous and constituted an abuse of discretion. (A: 1-11) Additionally, the Fourth District certified three questions to this Court, which are renumbered for the purposes of this Brief as follows: (A: 11-12)

- Has the Legislature preempted municipalities from exercising any control over the establishment of state roads and bridges?
- 2. Does the DOT have the authority to route a state road bridge through or into a municipality in a corridor that specifically conflicts with the municipality's comprehensive growth plan?
- 3. Were the procedural standards employed in the case at bar sufficient to justify the DOT's decision on the merits?

Judge Anstead filed a dissent stating that there was no demonstration that the DEPARTMENT acted outside of its authority, nor had the DEPARTMENT "failed to comply with the relevant statutory scheme authorizing it to plan for and construct the bridge in question." (A: 13-15)

The Court accepted jurisdiction based upon the DEPARTMENT's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction dated July 9, 1986.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The City of Boynton Beach lies on the west side of the Intracoastal Waterway in Palm Beach County, Florida. Directly to the east, across the Intracoastal Waterway, lies the Town of Ocean Ridge. The two municipalities are joined, in part, by an antiquated, two-lane, 49-year-old bascule bridge spanning the Intracoastal Waterway at Ocean Avenue. (R: 165, 167, 174)

In August of 1977, the DEPARTMENT and Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) published a Final Negative Declaration (FND) for the replacement of the existing bridge with a new four lane bridge on State Road 804 (Northeast Second Avenue). (R: 165) Presently, traffic exiting from I-95 proceeds east down Northeast Second Avenue to US 1 where in order to reach AlA in Ocean Ridge, traffic must jog to the South 700 feet; turn left onto Ocean Avenue, and then proceed east across the Intracoastal Waterway via the existing two-lane bridge. (R: 169) The proposed bridge on Northeast Second Avenue would eliminate this jog by allowing traffic to proceed directly across the Intracoastal Waterway via a new four-lane bridge. (R: 169)

Prior to the publication of the FND, the DEPARTMENT held a Highway Corridor Location and Design Hearing in accordance with the Federal Aid Highway Act, 23 U.S.C. 101 and §334.211, Fla. Stat. (1975). (R: 96-162) At the hearing, the Town Manager of Ocean Ridge and residents of both Ocean Ridge and Boynton Beach expressed support for the reconstruction of the bridge at its

existing location. Other residents of both Ocean Ridge and Boynton Beach expressed support for the relocation of the bridge to Northeast Second Avenue. (R: 96-162)

Since June, 1976, OCEAN RIDGE has opposed the relocation of the bridge to Northeast Second Avenue and in 1982 adopted a local comprehensive plan which in part contains a recommendation to "continue to oppose construction of the Second Avenue bridge in an effort to discourage increased traffic congestion and safety hazards in the Town." (R: 60)

On the other hand, the City of Boynton Beach has long supported the construction of the bridge at the new Northeast Second Avenue location. In 1975, the City Council of Boynton Beach passed Resolution No. 75-SS which states in part:

> That the Department of Transportation of the State of Florida be and is hereby requested to take immediate action to provide for a new high-silhouette bridge over the Intracoastal Waterway, continuing the approach to the bridge eastward from the juncture of U.S. Highway #1 and State Road #804 to A1A as aforesaid, in the City of Boynton Beach.

(R: 228-9) In 1977, Boynton Beach adopted a local comprehensive plan which calls for the relocation of the Ocean Avenue bridge to Northeast Second Avenue. (R: 296-298) Additionally, the relocation of the bridge to Northeast Second Avenue would be consistent with Palm Beach County's comprehensive plan. (R: 298)

In August, 1983, after continual local controversy over the bridge, the DEPARTMENT undertook a study to determine whether

a replacement bridge could be designed and built at the Ocean Avenue location. (R: 93-94) The final result of the study was a Value Engineering Report dated March, 1984 (R: 266-274) which concluded that although a four-lane bridge could feasibly be built on the existing alignment, in view of all the circumstances and compromises in engineering necessary to do so, the study recommended that the bridge be relocated to Northeast Second Avenue. After reviewing the Value Engineering report, the Secretary of the Department by memo dated March 16, 1984, reaffirmed the DEPARTMENT's decision to relocate the bridge to Boynton Beach Boulevard (formerly Northeast Second Avenue). (R: 275)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Historically, municipalities in Florida possessed no authority to exercise control over roads and bridges within the State Highway State, even though such roads extended into or through their incorporated areas. The enactment of the "Municipal Home Rule Powers Act" does not alter a municipality's lack of authority over the State Highway System because the Transportation Code, by specifying the responsibilities of the DEPARTMENT, counties, and municiaplities, clearly establishes a stratified structure of control under which the DEPARTMENT has the plenary power to designate, plan, construct and maintain the State Road System. Thus the Transportation Code preempts municipal regulation of roads and bridges within the State Highway System.

A careful reading of the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Developemnt Act (hereinafter referred to as the "Act") in <u>pari materia</u> with the Transportation Code reflects that the Act does not divest the DEPARTMENT of its plenary power to designate, plan, construct and maintain the State Highway System. Furthermore, the purpose of the Act is to "utilize and strengthen the <u>existing</u> role" of the local government entity, not create new areas of municipal authority.

No hearing on the merits was held in the instant cause since Respondent, LOPEZ-TORRES filed a Motion for Summary Recommended Order and all parties stipulated that the facts were

not in dispute. Thus the doctrine of invited err precludes remand. Additionally, at this point in the proceedings, an evidentiary hearing would be a senseless and useless formality.

The DEPARTMENT's determination to relocate the Boynton Beach bridge is not reviewable under the APA because such determination was an investigative proceeding which did not legally determine any substantial interests of the Respondents. Without any allegations that the DEPARTMENT's actions were illegal, unauthorized or failed to follow the procedural requirements set forth in the Code, remand of the instant cause would result in the hearing officer improperly substituting his judgment for that of the DEPARTMENT which is vested by law with the authority to designate, plan, construct and maintain highways and bridges within the State Highway System.

#### ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE TRANSPORTATION CODE PREEMPTS MUNICIPALITIES FROM EXERCISING ANY CONTROL OVER THE ESTABLISHMENT OF STATE ROADS AND BRIDGES.

The "Municipal Home Rule Powers Act" was passed by the Florida Legislature in 1973 and is codified at \$166.011 thru \$166.045, Fla. Stat. (1985). Although granting municipalities the power to "enact legislation concerning any subject matter upon which the state Legislature may act," the Legislature limited this broad grant by the exceptions set forth in \$166.021(3)(a)-(d). Specifically subsection c excepts from municipal control "(a)ny subject expressly preempted to state or county government by the constitution or by general law." This exception is known as the preemption doctrine and is a fundamental principle of municipal law since municipalities, as creatures of the legislature, are inferior in status and subordinate to the laws of the state. 5 McQuillan, Municipal Corporations, \$15.20 p. 73 (3rd ed. 1981). In Tribune Co. v. Canella, 458 So.2d 1075, 1077, (Fla. 1984) this Court recognized the preemption doctrine in agreeing with the dissent below that:

> Under (the preemption) doctrine a subject is preempted by a senior legislative body from the action by a junior legislative body if the senior legislative body's scheme of regulation of the subject is pervasive and if further regulation of the subject by the junior legislative body would present a danger of conflict with that pervasive regulatory scheme...

Consequently, whether a particular field has been precluded from local regulation requires an analysis of the relevant state statutes and of the facts and circumstances under which the statutes were intended to operate. 6 McQuillan, <u>supra</u> at \$21.34, p. 250-1, sets forth the following questions as pertinent in analyzing whether a particular field has been preempted by the state:

> Does the ordinance conflict with state law; is the state law, expressly or implied, to be exclusive; does the subject matter reflect a need for uniformity; is the state scheme so pervasive or comprehensive that it precludes coexistence of municipal to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of the legislature. In some instances, the very nature of the regulated subject matter may demand exclusive state regulation to achieve the uniformity necessity to serve the state's purpose or interest.

In the instant cause, the relevant state statutes are those known as the Florida Transportation Code (hereinafter referred to as the "Code") (Chapters 334-339, 341, 348, and 349 and ss. 332.003-332.007, 351.35, 351.36, 351.37, and 861.011). \$334.01, Fla. Stat. (1985). The Code provides for a comprehensive statewide transportation system under the supervision and control of the Department of Transportation. In pertinent parts, it provides as follows:

CHAPTER 334 TRANSPORTATION ADMINISTRATION

\$334.03 Definitions of words and phrases. -

(3) "City street system." - The city street system of each municipality consists of all local roads within that municipality,

and all collector roads inside that municipality, which are not in the county road system.

\*

- \* \* \* \*
- (6) "County road system." The county road system of each county consists of all collector roads in the unincorporated areas and all extensions of such collector roads into and through any incorporated areas, all local roads in the unincorporated areas, and all urban minor arterial roads not in the State Highway System.
  - \* \* \* \* \*
- (19) "State Highway System." The State Highway System consists of the following:
  - (a) The interstate system;
  - (b) All rural arterial routes and their extentions into and through urban areas;
  - (c) All urban principal arterial routes; and
  - (d) Those urban minor arterial routes on the existing primary road system as of July 1, 1977, with the addition of segments of such routes which lie between and connect those parts of the routes previously included in the primary system and which are necessary to provide continuity to the system...
  - \* \* \* \* \*
- (21) "State Road." All streets, roads, highways, and other public ways open to travel by the public generally and dedicated to the public use, according to law or by prescription, and designated by the department, as provided by law, as parts of the State Highway System.

\* \* \*

\$334.035 <u>Purpose of transportation code</u>. - The purpose of the Florida Transportation Code is to establish the responsibilities of the state, the counties, and the municipalities in the planning and development of the transportation systems serving the people of the state and to assure the development of an integrated, balanced statewide transportation system. This code is necessary for the protection of the public safety and general welfare and for the preservation of all transportation facilities in the state...

- \* \* \* \* \*
- \$334.044 Powers and duties of department. The department shall have the following general powers and duties:
  - (1) To assume the responsibility for coordinating the planning of a safe, viable, and balanced state transportation system serving all regions of the state and to assure the compatibility of all components, including multi-modal facilities.
    - \* \* \* \* \*
  - (6) To acquire, by the exercise of the power of eminent domain as provided by law, all property or property rights, whether public or private, which it may determine are necessary to the performance of its duties and the execution of its powers.
    - \* \* \* \* \*
  - (11) To establish a numbering system for public roads, to functionally classify such roads, and to assign jurisdictional responsibility.
    - \* \* \* \* \*
  - (13) To designate existing, and to plan proposed, transportation facilities as part of the State Highway System and to construct, maintain, and operate such facilities.

\* \* \* \* \*

(21) To cooperate with and assist local governments in the development of a statewide transportation system and in the development of the individual components of the system.

\* \* \* \* \*

\$334.046 Department program objectives. -

(1)(b) To meet the annual need for resurfacing of the State Highway System, including repair and replacement of bridges on the system...

\* \* \* \* \*

CHAPTER 335 STATE HIGHWAY SYSTEM

- \$335.01 Designation and systematization of public roads. -
  - (1) All roads which are open and available for use by the public and dedicated to the public use, according to law of by prescription, are hereby declared to be, and are established as public roads.
  - (2) Public roads shall be divided into four systems:
    - (a) The State Highway System;
    - (b) The State Park Road System;
    - (c) The county road system; and
    - (d) The city street system.

\* \* \* \* \*

\$335.02(1) The department shall have the authority to locate and designate certain roads as part of the State Highway System and to construct and maintain them with funds available to the department...

\* \* \* \* \*

- §335.04 <u>Functional classification of roads;</u> designation of state and local responsibilities. -
  - (1) (a) The department has the responsibility of data collection for planning and functional classification purposes and shall evaluate and functionally classify all the public roads in the state. Each road shall be assigned to the appropriate public road system.
- \$335.09 Uniform erection and maintenance of traffic control devises. -

The department shall erect and maintain a uniform system of signs, signals, markings, and other traffic control devices...on the State Highway System... \* \*

\*

- \*
- §335.10 <u>Regulation of vehicles operating on, certain</u> <u>uses of, and certain traffic on State Highway</u> <u>System; civil liability for damage to system</u> road. -
  - (1) The department shall prescribe regulations for vehicles operating on the State Highway System.
  - (2) The department shall prohibit any use of, and any traffic on the State Highway System that might damage or destroy the same.
    - \* \* \* \* \*
- CHAPTER 336 COUNTY ROAD SYSTEM
  - §336.02 Responsibility for county road system. -

The commissioners are invested with the general superintendence and control of the county roads and structures within their respective counties, and they may establish new roads and change and discontinue old roads and keep the roads in good repair in the manner herein provided...

\* \* \* \* \*

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