SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

By Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 69,035

DR. and MRS. AUGUSTO LOPEZ-TORRES, TOWN OF OCEAN RIDGE and AUDUBON SOCIETY OF THE EVERGLADES,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
DR. AND MRS. AUGUSTO LOPEZ-TORRES,
and
AUDUBON SOCIETY OF THE EVERGLADES

HEWITT & MACMILLAN, P.A.

By: Hugh MacMillan, Jr.,
Florida Bar No. 123916

Attorneys for DR. and MRS. AUGUSTO
LOPEZ-TORRES
4440 PGA Blvd., Suite 201

Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410

Tel: (305) 622-4118

GUNSTER, YOAKLEY, CRISER &
STEWART, P.A.
By: James R. Brindell
Florida Bar No. 117680
Attorneys for AUDUBON SOCIETY OF
THE EVERGLADES
777 South Flagler Drive, Suite 500

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: HAS THE LEGISLATURE PREEMPTED MUNICIPALITIES FROM EXERCISING ANY CONTROL OVER THE ESTABLISHMENT OF STATE ROADS AND BRIDGES?

ARGUMENT:

- (a) The Comprehensive Planning Act can be construed <u>in</u>

 <u>pari materia</u> with the State Transportation Code to give

 significant legal effect to both.
- (b) It is an established axiom of statutory construction that an act should not be construed so as to render it purposeless and useless legislation.
- (c) The DOT erroneously concludes that its legal powers to locate, build, operate and control state roads and bridges are exclusive.
- (d) The DOT erroneously concludes that the legislature preempted municipalities from exercise of any control whatsoever over establishment and location of bridges on state roads.

ISSUE II: DOES THE DOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO ROUTE A STATE

ROAD BRIDGE THROUGH OR INTO A MUNICIPALITY IN A CORRIDOR THAT

SPECIFICALLY CONFLICTS WITH THE MUNICIPALITY'S COMPREHENSIVE

GROWTH PLAN?

ARGUMENT:

(a) The DOT's proposed Boynton Beach Bridge, with approach road, is inconsistent with and therefore precluded by

the local comprehensive plan of OCEAN RIDGE.

- (b) The proposed replacement bridge constitutes a "development" within the meaning of Sections 380.04(1) and 163.3164(5), Florida Statutes (1985).
- (c) The general rule is that local government comprehensive plans prevail over the state transportation plan. In cases where there exists a showing of essential state need or benefit, a judicial test of balancing of interests would be appropriate to determine whether the state plan should override the local plan. No such showing exists in this case.

ISSUE III: WERE THE PROCEDURAL STANDARDS EMPLOYED IN THE CASE AT BAR SUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE DOT'S DECISION ON THE MERITS?

ARGUMENT:

There is no dispute as to material facts related to Respondents' Motion for Summary Recommended Order. That motion initiated a legal process with procedural standards sufficient to justify entry of the Recommended Order by the Hearing Officer and entry of a Final Order by the DOT on the motion, which Final Order is the subject of this judicial review. However, DOT did not employ adequate procedural standards to justify a final decision on the merits.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

HAS THE LEGISLATURE PREEMPTED MUNICIPALITIES FROM EXERCISING ANY CONTROL OVER THE ESTABLISHMENT OF STATE ROADS AND BRIDGES?

The Final Order of the Secretary of the DOT construes the Comprehensive Planning Act in a manner that renders it a purposeless and therefore useless piece of legislation in cases where DOT's determination to build a road or bridge would vitiate the goals of a community established for the well-being of its citizens. It is an axiom of statutory construction that the legislature would not enact a purposeless and therefore useless piece of legislation. Sharer v. Hotel Corporation of America, 144 So.2d 813 (Fla.1962). It is the judiciary's duty to uphold and give effect to all provisions of a legislative enactment, and to adopt any reasonable view that will do so. Tyson v. Lanier, 156 So.2d 833 (Fla.1963); State v. Zimmerman, 370 So.2d 1179 (4th DCA, 1979).

Statutes that relate to the same person or thing, to the same class of persons or things, or the same or a closely allied subject or object, are regarded as in pari materia. Such enactments should be construed together and compared with each other. Miami Dolphins Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 So.2d 981 (Fla.1981). Alachua County v. Powers, 351 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1977).

With regard to planning law, the relationship between the Comprehensive Planning Act and the State Transportation Code is between comprehensive planning at the local government level (of which transportation is an important and legally required aspect) and functional planning at the state level for transportation by the DOT, the state transportation agency. The Comprehensive Planning Act requires OCEAN RIDGE to establish a plan for the community which takes into account a broad range of public interests and preferences for the development and character of the community. The Act does not prescribe a particular level of development or a particular community character. It allows OCEAN RIDGE a broad latitude in shaping its plan.

The ultimate purpose of each local government's plan under the Act is "...to guide and control future development" in the community. Section 163.3161(2), Florida Statutes (1985). Respondents respectfully submit that no single action of government affects the type, pattern and location of development and the character of a community more than the construction of roads and bridges. The DOT's position of preemption with respect to its responsibility for roads and bridges undermines and frustrates the responsibility and authority of local government for the evolution of the community under the Comprehensive Planning Act.

The Final Order of the DOT lists a series of provisions

from the State Transportation Code as authority for the conclusion that the legal powers possessed by the DOT to locate, build, operate and control state roads and bridges are exclusive and that the Florida Legislature has preempted local government from exercising control over the establishment and location of bridges on state roads.

The statutory references in the Final Order do clearly describe the responsibilty of the DOT for transportation and transportation planning. Ironically, the cited statutory provision containing the strongest language of delegated powers, Section 334.11, Florida Statutes, was repealed by the Legislature in 1984.

The Comprehensive Planning Act at Section 163.3211, Florida Statutes (1985) contains a provision that is central to the decision in this case.

163.3211 Conflict with other statutes.—Where this act may be in conflict with any other provision or provisions of law relating to local governments having authority to regulate the development of land, the provisions of this act shall govern unless the provision of this act are met or exceeded by such other provision or provisions of law relating to local government including land development regulations adopted pursuant to chapter 125 or chapter 166.

Nothing in this act is intended to withdraw or diminish any legal powers or responsibilities of state agencies or change any requirement of existing law that local regulations comply with state standards or rules.

(Emphasis added)

To the DOT this provision means, apparently, that local government comprehensive plans have no binding legal effect at all on the DOT in the exercise of its lawful responsibilities.

The Comprehensive Planning Act includes specific requirements on transportation, establishing transportation as an essential aspect of a local comprehensive plan. The plan must include a traffic circulation element consisting of the types, locations, and extent of existing and proposed major thoroughfares and transportation routes. Section 163.3177(6)(b) Florida Statutes (1985). The law also requires other specific plan elements including land use, conservation of natural resources, housing, and an element addressing sanitary sewer, solid waste, and water quality. Local government has the responsibilty to weigh and balance various considerations in adopting a comprehensive plan addressing the required elements. Section 163.3177 Florida Statutes (1985).

The Act also provides a specific framework for the interaction between a particular municipality and government at the state level, including the DOT. Section 163.3184 Florida Statutes (1985). This section was amended and strengthened by the 1985 Legislature to insure consistency in comprehensive plans between local governments and at different levels of government. However, prior to amendment, the statute still required and provided an opportunity for DOT to review and comment upon local comprehensive plans as they impacted upon the lawful responsibility of DOT. There is no indication in the record that DOT ever reviewed or commented upon the Ocean Ridge plan. DOT has continued to assert that local comprehensive plans have no binding legal effect upon the agency.

Does it "withdraw or diminish any legal powers" of the DOT to require that the DOT exercise its legal powers within a comprehensive planning framework established by general law? Respondents urge that it does not, and that a proper judicial construction of section 163.3211, Florida Statutes (1985) can give full and significant legal effect to both the State Transportation Code and the Comprehensive Planning Act.

Section 334.044(1), Florida Statutes (1985) (a provision not cited by the DOT in support of its position) provides as follows:

334.044 Powers and duties of the department The department shall have the following general powers and duties:

(1) To assume the responsibility for coordinating the planning of a safe, viable, and balanced state transportation system serving all regions of the state and to assure the compatibility of all components, including multimodal facilities. (emphasis added)

Similar language is contained in the <u>State</u>

<u>Comprehensive Plan</u>, Section 187.201(19) Florida Statutes (1985)

entitled TRANSPORTATION which sets forth these "policies":

12. Avoid transportation improvements which encourage or subsidize increased development in coastal high-hazard areas or in identified environmentally sensitive areas such as wetlands, floodways, or productive marine areas.

- 13. <u>Coordinate</u> transportation improvements with state, local, and regional plans. (emphasis added)
- 14. Acquire advanced rights-of-way for transportation projects in designated transportation corridors consistent with state, regional, and local plans.

DOT's role as coordinator of transportation planning in the state is a responsibility different and distinct from the "plenary power" role claimed by the agency on the basis of a 1954 court decision, State of Florida v. Florida State Improvement Commission, 75 So.2d 1 (Fla.1954). Much has changed in Florida in the past thirty years and a change of major governmental significance is the establishment of the Comprehensive Planning Act. As coordinator of transportation planning in the state, DOT has a responsibility more subtle and difficult than simply dictating transportation decisions. Rather than ignoring local government plans, DOT is to work with communities to develop consensus.

In his Recommended Order, the Hearing Officer sets forth with emphasis the statutory provisions of the Comprehensive Planning Act. (R-281) The purpose of the Act is to "...utilize and strengthen the existing role, processes, and powers of local governments in the establishment and implementation of comprehensive planning programs to guide and control future development." Section 163.3161 Florida Statutes (1985). Note that the statute states as the purpose the <u>strengthening</u> of local government to guide and control future development. Nothing is

more significant than roads and bridges for determining the pattern of development. Under the Act, local government comprehensive plans have binding legal effect. After a local government adopts a comprehensive plan "...all development undertaken by ...governmental agencies in regard to land covered by such plan or element shall be consistent with such plan or element as adopted." Section 163.3194(1) Florida Statutes (1985).

At hearing, the DOT did not raise or argue the "withdraw or diminish legal powers" issue of Section 163.3211 Florida Statutes (1985). The DOT's Final Order relies on this argument to "gut" the Comprehensive Planning Act. However, that result is neither appropriate nor legally required. The Comprehensive Planning Act established a framework within which the full legal power and authority of the DOT may be exercised for the benefit of the citizens of Florida.

Section 163.3177 Florida Statutes (1985) requires that local comprehensive plans address transportation and contain a transportation element. Section 163.3184 Florida Statutes (1985) establishes a framework for coordination with government at the State level in the development and adoption of the comprehensive plan of a local government.

Clearly the Comprehensive Planning Act and the State
Transportation Code can and ought to be read in pari materia to
give significant legal effect of both. The Comprehensive
Planning Act is not supplanted or repealed by the State

Transportation Code. The role of the DOT is not an exclusive preemption of local government authority, including local government transportation planning authority. Rather, the lawful responsibilty of the state agency is to be carried out within the framework for comprehensive planning established by the Florida Legislature.

ISSUE II

DOES THE DOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO ROUTE A STATE ROAD BRIDGE THROUGH OR INTO A MUNICIPALITY IN A CORRIDOR THAT SPECIFICALLY CONFLICTS WITH THE MUNICIPALITY'S COMPREHENSIVE GROWTH PLAN?

The DOT's proposed Boynton Beach Bridge, with approach road, is inconsistent with and, therefore, precluded by the local comprehensive plan of OCEAN RIDGE.

By statute all development, including that undertaken by state and local government, must be consistent with the comprehensive plan of a local government. In his Recommended Order, the Hearing Officer concludes, as a matter of law, that the replacement bridge would constitute a "development" under sections 380.04(1) and 163.3164(5), Florida Statutes (1985). The District Court of Appeal chose not to address this issue and certified the question to the Florida Supreme Court.

Quoting from the Recommended Order (R-282):
"Development is assigned the meaning given by section

380.04, which provides:

- (1) The term "development" means the carrying out of any building activity or mining operation, the making of any material change in the use of appearance of any structure or land, or the dividing of land into three or more parcels.
- (2) The following operation or uses shall not be taken for the purpose of this chapter to involve "development" as defined in this section:
- (a) Work by a highway or road agency or railroad company for the maintenance or improvement of a road or railroad track, if the work is carried out on land within the boundaries of the right-of-way.

"Government agencies", as defined in the statute, include state agencies such as the DOT. Section 163.3164(8)(b), Fla. Stat.(1983). [Section 163.3164(9)(b) Florida Statutes (1985)]

The Hearing Officer further concluded:

"The proposed bridge, with approach road, is located, at least in part, within the boundaries of OCEAN RIDGE, which has adopted a local comprehensive plan pursuant to the Planning Act. That local plan, now in effect, contains policies, recommendations, and objectives which specifically and unequivocally oppose

waterway at Northeast Second Avenue. The proposed bridge, with approach road, is a "development" within the meaning of the Act. It is not exempted by Section 380.04(3)(a) because it does not equate to "maintenance" or "improvement" of an existing road or bridge. Although described as a replacement of an existing bridge, it is in actuality, an entirely new bridge which would be built in a new location where no bridge now exists and where the right-of-way has not yet been acquired. It is not an "improvement" to the existing bridge, and no one argues it is intended as an "improvement" to Northeast Second Avenue.

Any other conclusion on this point ignores the plain language of the applicable statutes."

"development" under the Comprehensive Planning Act, DOT urges a radically diminished construction of "development" under the Comprehensive Planning Act. The DOT suggests that " development" should be construed to include only those activities defined in Section 380.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1985) which traditionally fall under the control of a municipality. (Initial Brief, at page 19, emphasis added)

It is respectfully submitted that the restrictive and bureaucratically self-serving interpretation urged by the DOT is without legal merit. The DOT argument is based essentially on what the Secretary describes as the "exclusive legal power" of DOT (R-303). State policy and law have materially changed since the 1954 decision in State of Florida v. Florida State

Improvement Commission, 75 So.2d 1 (Fla.1954). This may have been the legal framework within which the state transportation agency was free to operate for many years, but clearly that is not the case today. In 1974, the Legislature enacted meaningful and significant planning legislation and the legal powers and responsibilities of state agencies, including DOT, must be exercised in a manner consistent with the Comprehensive Planning Act.

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